VAHEY v. GENERAL MOTORS COMPANY Doc. 28

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MICHAEL VAHEY ,

Plaintiff,

V- Civil Action No. 11-661(JDB)
GENERAL MOTORS COMPANY ,

Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Michael Vahey a former employee ofseneral Motors("GM")! and an
honorably discharged veteran, bintis action against defendant Gifeging a violation of his
rights under the Uniformed Services Employment and ReemployRightts Act of 1994
("USERRA"). Specifically, Vahey alleges (1) a failure to properly reempimyafter returning
from his military service, (2) unlawful discharge, and (3) discriminationdasehismilitary
absence GM has moved for summary judgment on thliee of Vahey'sclaims pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure %d Local Civil Rule 7(h) Upon consideration of GM's
motion, the parties' memoranda, and the entire record herein, the Court withdemgtion for
summary judgment.

l. Backaground
Vahey worked for GM from 1997 to 2005. Deposition of Michael Vahey'Vahey

Dep."), Ex. A to Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J'MSJ") [Docket Entry 221] at 24, 67 Compl.

! According to the defendant, "General Motors LLC is improperly named in Plaintif
Complaint as 'General Motors Company.™ Def.'s Reply in Supp. of Mot. to DismiskdiDoc
Entry 5] at 1 n.1. The Court will refer to the defendant as "GM" in this opinion.
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[Docket Entry 1]91 10, 16 He started as a contract employee in 1997 at an assembly plant in
Baltimore, MarylandVahey Dep.at 24,and was first hired as a salaried employee in March
1998, id.at 26. Vaheyearneda series opromotions whileheworked at the Baltimore plantd.

at 28-29 Declaration of Michael J. Vahey ("Vahey Decl."), Ex. A to Pl.'s Opp'n to [@8dket

Entry 241] 1, Compl. Y12. He also received expanded job pessibilities. SeeVaheyDep.

at 32-34.

Vahey applied for and received a lateral transfer to the posifidResident Quality
Launch Engineem August 2004 Id. at 34 Compl. 1 15 As a "Resident" Quality Launch
Engineer, Vahey was not assigned to the headcount of any particular GM facilitysteaidin
was aGeneral Motors’North America" employeemeaning hevould be temporarily agmed
(typically for one or tweyear periods) to assist with the launch of new produ@seVahey
Decl. 1 17,22 In 2004,GM assigned Vahey to assist with thench of the Pontiac Solstieg¢
the GM assembly plant in Wilmington, Delame Vahey Dep. at 35; Vahey Decl. {. 1During
his time atGM, Vahey's supervisorsonsistentlygave himhigh performanceatings at one
point rating him d'high potential"employee Vahey Dep. at 380; Vahey Decl. § 6Compl.
112.

Vahey had been interested in military sengaee the terrorist attacks of September 11,
2001, but had been reluctant to enlist due to fears that doing so might negatively ingpact hi
civilian career withGM. Vahey Dep. at 65Yahey Decl. § 8Compl. T 16. Eventually,Vahey
learned about the reefogment protections given to returning servicemembers under USERRA.
Vahey Dep. at 580; Vahey Decl. 1 8Compl.  16.Under USERRA, individuals who leave a
civilian job to perform five or fewer years of military servigenerallyhave the right to be

reemployedby their civilian employer upon honorable discharge from the military, and may not



be terminated without cauder up to one yeaafter theirreturnto work Seegenerally38
U.S.C. 8§ 4311-4316.

In early 2005, Vahey approached his supervisorS&t as well asmultiple human
resources employees to discuss his desire to take a military leave of ab¥ames. Dep. at
54-55;Vahey Decl. § 9Compl.  16. The GM employees Vahey spoke with were supportive of
his decisiorand granted Vahey a military leave of absence, with the understanding that he would
return toGM in four years. Vahey Dep. at 5b8; Vahey Decl. § 9Compl. {1 17-18. After
waiting for and receivingormal approval fromGM, Vaheyenlistedin the United States Army
on July 20, 2005. Vahey Dep. at 67-68.

Vahey spent four years on active duty with the Army, inclugdirgeenmonths deployed
overseas. Id. at 80. During those four yeal® made occasional contact with GNMuman
resourcestaff to express his desire to return to his jol&sa after hismilitary service Seeid.
at 7578 ("I'm still alive and it's still my intent to return to my caree®Vahey Decl. 1 1-12;
Compl. § 21.As his military service came to an endiheyapplied forreemployment with GM
SeeVahey Dep. 8@9; Compl.J 23.

As early asApril 23, 2009, theGM Human Resources team began discussingeya
return from active dutyEx. B to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ [Docket Entry-2lat D00306. On May 4,
2009, Theresa Fellow8echard emailed her human resources colleague Paul Dobos, asking for
"the date of Mike Vahay's [sic] return from leave," calling this "a critical piecefofmation as
we try to plan for theGMSP" |d. at DO0301. "GMSP" stands for "Gemal Motors Severance
Program.”" SeeEx. F to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ [Docket Entry 24-6] at D00040.

Vahey visited the GM plant in Wilmington, Delaware on May 5, 2009, with two months

of active dutyremaining. Vahey Dep. aB87-88;Vahey Decl. § 13.He met with Paul Dobos,



with whom hediscussed thempending closure of theGM plant in Wilmington and the
significant financial troubles that were then facidlyl and the American automotivaedustry.

Vahey Dep. aB7-94 see alsdrirst Affidavit of Jeffrey Haladik,Ex. C toMSJ ("First Haladik

Aff.") [Docket Entry 223] 1 4. Eventually, Dobossaid something about a separation package"
and suggested that Vahey "would be getting severed." Vahey Dep.s#e88Isd/ahey Decl.

113 ("Mr. Dobos stated to me that General Motors' outlook was not positive and thatdl woul
likely be severed.!) Vahey "felt that as a North America employee that the closure of the
Wilmington plant should not necessarily affect” hisg he raised the possibility of "other
opportunities"at other GM facilities. Vahey Dep. at-82. According to VaheyDobos said
"[s]omething to the effect that that wasn't going to happen.” Id. at 91.

After Vahey's visit to the plant, internal discussions continued regarding ‘gdesyre to
return to work atGM. On June 10, 2009, Paul Dobos emailed TheredawseBlanchard:
"Wilmington will have a small GMSB/1/09. Let me know ifVahey] will be included in that
one pending what legal and policy tell you." Ex. B to Plpp'®to MSJat D0O0309. On June
17, 2009, Dobos confirmed that "MiRéahey] will be on Wilmington GMSP list."ld.

Vahey was honorably discharged from the United States Army on July 20, 200% and
visited Paul Dobos at the GM Wilmington plant avfdays late, on July 23, 2009. Vaheydp.
at 99101; Vahey Decl. 1 15. Dobos explained that Vahey was going to be formally added to the
employment rolls for two weeks, retroactive to his final day of militaryisenduly 20, 2009,
and therhewould be terminatedn July 31, 2009. Vahey Dep. at 98; Vahey Decl. . After
that, Vahey would receive simonths of severance p@gbout $39000), in exchange for signin
the "GM Severance Program Release Agreememahey Dep. 1146; Vahey Decl. | 15;

Compl. § 31 AlthoughVahey was formally on th&M payroll for two weeks Vahey Decl.



1 19,there is no indicatiofrom the recordhathe actually performed anypb-relatedduties, nor
was there angiscussion of his employmentibg extended after July 31, 200@e3d.

The GM Wilmington plant "ceased production operations” on July 28, 2009, leading to
the elimination of over 1,000 jop&irst Haladik Aff. § 5 approximatelyll4 of which had
belonged to salaried employees likahey seeEx. D to Pl's Opp'n to MSJ [igket Entry
24-4]2 Vahey was among the first six salaried employeemsinatedin connection with the
closing of the plan SeeEx. D to PlL's Opp'n to MSJ at DO039Most GM Wilmington
employees were severed in the months after Vaheyminationbut some received tnafers to
other GM facilities. SeeEx. E, Def.'s Second Supp. Interrog. Re$pocket Entry 2-5] at 5
(listing "salaried employees who transferred from the Wilmington plant to another GNj fizc
connection with the closure ofa@lVilmington plant”); see alsdef.'s Answer [Docket Entry 8]
132 ("[N]Jot all employees who were working at the Wilmington, Delaware plant were
terminated.”) Vahey was never presented wilie opportunity toapply for a transfer.Vahey
Dep. at92-95, VaheyDecl. 120-21. He claims this opportunity was given to the other salaried

employees at the Wilmington plant/aheyDecl. { 20;see alsdeclaration of Jeffrey W. Watt,

Ex. C to PlL's Opp'n to MSg'Watt Decl.”) [Docket Entry 243] 1 2 ("In early June, 2009,
manager [sic] at the Wilmington plant called me and the other salaried employeesatiogs
in which we were offered two optien either apply for a transfer or accept separation and

severance.").

2 Both parties appear to assume that the relevant comparators are Vahey's fellow salaried
employees, rather than every worker affected by the closure of the Wilmington plenCourt
adopts the same assumption.



Vahey filed this lawsuit allagg violations of his USERRA rights on April 1, 201GM
moved to dismissrelyingsolely on the relead¢hat Vahey signed upon receiving his severance
package.The Court denied the motioiw dismiss* andGM moved for summary judgment e
close of dscovery.

I. Standard of Review

A. Summary Judgment
Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadingsrendvidence demonstrate that
"there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is ¢atjtidgment as a
matterof law." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).The party seeking summary judgment bears the initial
responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine dispute of matdriabésCelotex

Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986)Jhe moving party may succdslly support its

motion by identifying those portions of the record, including depositions, documents,
electronically stored information, affidavits or declarations, stipadati(including those made
for purposes of the motion only), admissions, imtgatay answers, or other materialsyhich it
believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materidfddctR. Civ. P. 56(c)(1);

see alsCelotex 477 U.S. at 323.

® The release specified that by accepting the severance package, Vahey would "release
and forever discharge GM . . . from all claims, grievances, lawsuits, demands, aad chu
action, known or unknown, which [he] may have relating to [his] employment or [his] Separat
from GM." EX. A to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss [Docket Entry 34t 2 The release did not
specifically refer to USERRA claims or to claims based on veterausstaut did mention other
specific statutes.

* The Court denied GM's Motion to Dismiss based on this relmasdarch 12012 See
Mar. 1, 2012 Mem. Op. & Order [Docket Entry 6] at 11 ("For 8§ 4302(bUSERRA to be
meaningful in its protections of veterans' rights, a veteran's waiver ofjhts must be clearer
and more specific than in this Release."); see 380).S.C. § 4302(b) (USERRA "supersedes
any State law (including any local law or ordinance), contract, agreement, policy, ptditepra
or other matter that reduces, limits, or eliminates in any manner any rightedit ipeovided by"
USERRA). GM does not mevfor summary judgment based on the release, but does note that
"[s]hould any issues remain for trial, GM intends to argue that plaintiff's clairttgsdawsuit
are barred by the" release. MSJ at 5 n.3.



In determining whether theiis a genuine dispute of material fact suffidiéo preclude
summary judgment, the Court must regard the-morants statements as true and accept all

evidence and make all inferences in the-nwvants favor. SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby,

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986)A nonr-moving party, howewe must establish more than the
"mere existence of a scintilla of evidende'support of its positionld. at 252. Moreover, [i]f
the evidence is merely colorable, or is not significantly probatwengary judgment may be
granted." Id. at 24950 (citations omitted).Summary judgment, then, is appropriatéhé non
movant fails to offer "evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for thenroaant].”
Id. at 252.
B. USERRA

Enacted in 1994'USERRA isthe latest in a series of lawsrotecting veterans'
employment and reemployment rights." 20 C.F.R. § 1002.2. Many courts have noted that
USERRA's protectionsshould be broadly construed in favor of military service members as its

purpose is to protect such member¥egaColon v. Wyeth Pharsy, 625 F.3d 22, 26 (1st Cir.

2010); see alsoFishgold v. Sullivan Drydock & Repair Corp., 328 U.S. 275, 285 (1946)

(Selective Taining and Service Act of 1940, one of USERRp@Yedecessorsjs to be liberally
construed for the benefit of thosdno left private life to serve their country in its hour of great
need). "In enacting the statute, Congress made clear that, to the extent consistent with
USERRA, the large bodyf case law that had developedder previously enacted federal laws
protecting veterans' employment and reemployment rigetsained in full force and effect.™

RiveraMeléndez v. Pfizer Pharsn LLC, No. 121023,2013 WL 5290017, at3*(1st Cir. Sept.

20, 2013)(quoting 20 C.F.R. § 1002)2 "The purpose of USERRA is to (1) encourage

noncareer military service bgliminating or minimizing the dalvantages to civilian careers,’'



(2) minimize the disruption of saoemembers and their employdog providing for the prompt
reemploymentdf servicemembers, and (3) prohibit disanation against servicememberdd.
(quoting38 US.C. § 4301(a)).

For servicemembers who spemdre than ninety days in timeilitary, Section4313(a)(2)
of USERRA requires reemploymentin' the position of employment inwhich [the
servicemembémwould have been employed if the continuous employment of such person with
the employer had not been interruptéy military service. 38 U.S.C. § 4313(a)(®)). This
position—known as the "escalator positiertloes not necesshrirequire a promotionor even
reinstatement to the employee's prior positltime escalator principle may cause an employee to
be reemployed in a higher or lower position, laid off, or even terminated.” 20 C.F.R. § 1002.194.
"In some cases, for exameplthe escalator principt®uld deliver an employee into 'layoff status'
if the 'employee's seniority or job classification would have resulted in the employee dding |
off during the period of service, and the layoff contingtér the date of reemptment.™

RiveraMeléndez 2013 WL 5290017at *4 (quoting20 C.F.R. § 1002.194 USERRA also

provides that reemployment is not required if "the emplopitsimstancesave so changed as
to make such reemployment impossible or unreasonable.” S&\§ 4312(d)(1)(A). When
invoking this defense, themployer "shall have the burden of proving the impossibility or
unreasonableness" midemployment._Id. 8§ 4312(d)(2).

Onceproperly reemployedieturningservicememberasho spehmore than 180 days in
the military "shall not be discharged . .except for causeé,within the first year of their
reemployment. 1d. 8 4316(c). Although USERRA does not define "cause,"” Department of
Labor regulations explain that "cause" may be "based eithgheremployee's¢onduct or, in

some circumstances, because of the application of other legitimate nondiscrynieatams



such as a layoff or reduction in force. 20 C.F.R. § 1002.24&udh acase "[tlhe employer
bears the burden of proving that the employee's job would have been eliminated or ttsktene or
would have been laid off."_Id.

Finally, USERRA contains a "catdil" discrimination provision, providing thata
returning servicemembesHall not be denied initial employment, reemployment, retention in
employment, promotion, or any benefit of employment by an employer on the badienf
military service. 38 U.S.C.8 431%a). "An employee who makes a discrimination claim under
USERRA bears the initial burden of showing by a preponderance of the @vitlest his
'membership . . . or obligation for service in the uniformed services' was a sabstant

motivating factor in the adverse employment actiorPotts v. Howard Univ. Hosp., 843

F. Supp. 2d 101, 104 (D.D.C. 201gjuoting38 U.S.C8 4311(c))aff'd, 493 F. App'x 114 (D.C.
Cir. 2013). Once "the employee successfully makes that prima facie showing, the employer can
avoid liability by demonstrating that it would have taken the same action anywayvialid

reason, without regard to the emple{gemilitary service."ld.; accordErickson v. U.S. Postal

Serv, 571 F.3d 1364, 136%ed. Cir. 2009) An employer may still violate USERRA if military
service is one o$everal'motivating factors" inthe denid of "any benefit of employmeritas
oppo®d to the sole motivating factoErickson 571 F.3d at 1360'Congress enacted USERRA
in part to make clear that discrimination in employment occurs when a persiaisy reervice

is 'a motivating factorand not to require, ddonrod v. Standard OiCo. 452 U.S. 549 (1981]),

had suggested, that military service be the sole motivating factor fodtleesa employment
action!); see alsoH.R. Rep.103-65,at 24 (1993) (explicitly disapproving of the Supreme

Court's decision in Monrge



1. Analysis

Vahey brings three claims under USERRA. First,di@msthat GM failed to properly
reemploy him as required by 38 U.S.C. § 4312éaQuing that he "was not reemployed in the
position he would have held had he . . . not servablaruniform service," and that, indeed, he
"was not reemployed in any position." Compl. § Next, Vahey allegeshat his termination
was anunlawful discharge in violation a88 U.S.C.8 4316(c), which states that "[a] person who
is reemployed by an employer under [USERRA] shall not be discharged from such employment,
except for cause,"” whin one yearnf reemployment. Compl. 1 41Finally, Vahey alleges that
GM discriminated against him on the basis of his militabsencean violation of 38 U.S.C.
8 4311(a) because GM "fail[ed] to provide Mr. Vahey the opportunity to transfer to another
facility and retain employment with the Defendant, although this opportunity wasiedoto
nonUSERRA protected employees." Compl. 1 4%ahey argues that all three violations were
"willful" within the meaning of 38 U.S.C. 4323(d)(1)(C).Compl. 1139, 42, 45.

A. Count 1: Failure to Properly Reemploy— 38 U.S.C. § 4312(a)

Vahey's first claim is thaBM failed to properly reemploy him as required by 3&\C.
§ 4312(a) Becausdespent more than ninetlays in the uniformed servicaad hesatisfiedall
the statutory prerequisit@she waspresumptivelyentitled to reemployment "“in the position in
which [he] would have been employed" Hasd career "not been interrupted” by military service.

38 U.S.C. § 4313(a)(2)(A).To decidewhetherGM satisfied this obligationthe Court must

® Such prerequisites include showing that the plaintiff was a member of the umiforme
services, that his leave was taken due to his service in the uniformed services, ilzest dn
employee, and that the defendant was his employ®ee 38 U.S.C. 884303(3), (16);_id.
8 4312(%; accordDunlap v. Grupd@ntolin Ky., Inc., No. 5:05ev-00029-R, 2007 WL 855335, at
*2 (W.D. Ky. Mar. 14, 2007). The plaintiff must also provide the defendant with advance noti
of his intent to take a military leave of absence and submit an application fgiogerant. See
38 U.S.C. § 4312(apccordDunlap 2007 WL 855335, at *2. There is no dispute that Vahey
satisfied all of these requirements.
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determine (1) in what position, if any, was Vahey reemployed, and (2) whether that position is
the onehewould have occupied had he not taken military leak@enif Vahey can show that
GM did not properly reemploy hinGM canescape liabilityif it can prove that due to changed
circumstancesdoing so would have been "impossible or unreasonalde8 4312(d)()(A).

1. In what position was Vahey reemployed?

GM claims that "it reinstated plaintiff to the same position and seniority dateltle h
prior to his leave, and adjusted his pay rate to account for any increases to evimely have
been entitled dring his leave period.”" MSJ at Jee alsdef.'s Statement of Undisputed Facts
("Def.'s SOF"){Y 57. Vaheydisagreesclaiming thathe "was not actually reemployed into any
position," and that he "was simply put back on the rolls for the purposeanyf tegminated."

Pl.'s Opp'no MSJat 36. On Vahey's vieWw|p]lacement into a position without any duties, and
with a clear intent simply to terminate the employee is nothing more than a pro forma
reinstatement that does not comply with USERRA . ._.." Id.

In other words, the parties agree that Vahey feamally reinstated to the position of
Quality Launch Engineer, arttiat hewas officially placed on "paid status” fahe two weeks
between July 20, 2009 and August 1, 20881t the parties disagredoutwhat this meansGM
considers it a full and prepreemploymentYahey considerd ia "pro forma" fig leaf that masks
his true reemployment position: layoff statugnfortunately, the parties' briefirfgcuses little
attention on thigoint, and rither the parties nor the Court learentified any caseanalyzing
this preciseissue Noting that USERRA "must be broadly construed in favor of its military

beneficiaries,'Francis v. Booz, Allen & Hamilton, Inc., 452 F.3d 299, 303 (4th Cir. 20D@),

CourtdecideghatVahey has the bier of this argument.
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Thetwo-weekperiod between July 20, 2009 and August 1, 2009 Vahey spent on the
GM payroll bears little resemblance tihe ordinary understanding evhat it means to be
"employed.” First, Vaheys formal reinstatemenivas notfinalized until July 23, 2009 see
Vahey Decl. § 15the first three days of his smlled "reemployment” were a retroactieion.
Second, during thawo weeks the record suggests that Vahegs not expected +enor did he
in fact—perform any job-related duties. It appearghat he only timeVaheywas even on the
premises at ¢n GM Wilmington planduring this period of "employmenwas on July 23, 2009,
when he came in to sign his severance paperwSeeid. 1 1519. Third, there was never any
doubt that on August 1, 2009, Vahey was gdim be officially terminated In fact,thatdecision
had been made no later thdune 17, 208—while Vahey was still on active duty with the
Army—when Paul Dobos confirmed in an email that "Mi{k&hey] will be on Wilmington
GMSP list." Ex. B to Pl.'s Opp'n to M&i D0O0309. Nothing in the record suggekbist there
was eveia possibility of continued employment beyond that date.

The Court need not allo¥orm to prevail over substanc&ee EEOC v. SeardRoebuck

& Co., 839 F.2d 302, 346 (7th Cir. 1988)[C]ourts have invariably gone beyond job
descriptions to analyze, often-depth, actualjob duties and job performance.”) This is
particularly true in USERRA cases, in which Congress has "authorizd[slfrigt court to use its

full equity powers . . . to vindicate fully the rights of* veterans." Serricchio v. Wax|888.

LLC, 658 F.3d 169, 174 (2d Cir. 201mphasis omitted)quoting 38 U.S.C. § 4323(e)see

alsoBride v. Baker, 37 App. D.C. 231, 236 (D.C. Cir. 19('Bquity looks to substance, and not

to form, and will not lend its aid to one whose sole ground for seeking such aiddsuipasea
technicality”). GM insists that Vahey was reemployed fao weekswith no job duties, and

upon his formal termination on August 1, 2008 received six months' pay as a seveeanc

12



package. Butn light of the facts in the recorca more accurate description of Vahey's
employment history is as follows: Vahey was effectively termingtgdediatelyupon his return
from his military absenceafter which hereceivedtwo weeks' pay, and severance gctkage
equivalent to six months' pay.

To be suresome courts haveotedthat Section 4312equiresonly initial reemployment
of a returning veteran, anthat Section 4316 (unlawful discharge) and Section 4311

(discrimination) provide the only protections immediately thereaf&ge, e.g.Petty v. Metro.

Gov't of Nashville & Davidson Cnty., 687 F.3d 710, 718 (6th Cir. 2@1@nce a veteran is

rehired, 88 4311 and 4316 protect him from discrimination, but allow an employer todermai
veteran so long as it can show 'causeklated to the veteran's military servieErancis 452
F.3dat 304 ("[Sectionp3120nly entitles a service person to immediate reemployment and does
not prevent the employer from terminating him the next day or even later the samg&fday.
apparent harshness of this result is addressed by the fact that 88 4311 and 434 ooprextat

the employee as soon as she is reemployed.”) (internal citation and quotation miggd).om

Those casedoweveranticipate a situation where the veteran aetsially reemployeth good

faith, with at least thegossibility of continued employment ahdefinite length—not the pro
forma, nominal reinstatemerihat took place heren which all parties were aware that Vahey
did not even need to show up to work, and that he wawielybe officially terminated jusiwo

weels later. See, e.g.Petty 687F.3d at 718 (asking whether the defendantly reemployed"

the plaintiff) (emphasis added)Thus, the Court concludes that for the purposes of USERRA,
Vahey was "reemployed” into layoff statdsot the Quality LaunchHengineerposition that

appeared onis official paperwork.
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2. Is layoff status the " position” Vahey would have occupied but for his
military leave?

The Court's determination that Vahey was "reemployed” into layoff slaesnot mean
that he prevails on his Section 4312 claithlSERRA is nota veteran's preference statute,” and
"it was not intended to give returning servicemembers special benefits not providdwro ot

employees." Milhauserv. Minco Prods, Inc., 855 F. Supp. 2d 885, 899 (D. Min2012) In

other words "the escalator principleould deliver an employee into ‘layoff status' if the
‘employee’'s seniority or job classification would have resulted in the empleyeg laid off
during the period of service, and the layoff continuedrafie date of reemploymg™ Rivera

Meléndez v. Pfizer Pharsn LLC, No. 121023,2013 WL 5290017, at *41st Cir. Sept. 20,

2013) (quoting20 C.F.R. 8§ 1002.194kee alsaMilhauser 855 F. Supp. 2d at 898[U]nder

some circumstances, termination may be an appropriate 'posifioemployment’ under
USERRA."} 20 C.F.R. 8§ 1002.194[T]he escalator principle may cause an employee to be
reemployed in digheror lower position, laid off, or even terminated.”). Thus, @oairt must
determine whether, drawing all reasonahferencesn favor of Vahey, there remains a genuine
dispute of material fact regarding whetlé&v would haveterminatedhim in the counterfactual
scenario in whichvaheyhad not taken a fotyear leaveof absenceo serve in the military The
Court contudes that such a factual dispute remains

As an initial matter, GM argues that the inherent discretion in the transfégramdation
decisions shields them from liability, because "the escalator principle is onlydeateto
encompass promotions that are 'automatic' and 'based solely on engaoiegy.” MSJ at 8

(quotingRiveraMeléndezv. Pfizer Pharm, Inc., No. 101012 (MEL), 2011 WL5025930 at *8

(D.P.R.Oct. 21, 2011)rev'd No. 121023, 2013 WL 5290017 (1st Cir. Sept. 20, 2013}hey

disagrees, arguing that the escalator priecljprotects those changes and benefits which are

14



reasonably certain to accrue," and that "it is intended to encompas®sisannf) as transfers."
Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at 34.

Vahey is correct Hewas entitled to any "reasonably certain" employment bertefis
would have accrued during his military absence, including promotions and tran$feesfact
that discretion wasvolved in such decisi@—while surely making the fadtnder's job more
difficult—does not decide the matter in favor@HM. In support of its "discretion” argument,

GM relies almost exclusivelgn one caseRiveraMeléndezv. Pfizer Pharmaceuticals, IndNo.

10-1012,2011 WL 502593@D.P.R. Oct. 21, 2011). Bubatdecisionwas recently reversed a
persuasie opinion by tke First Circuit, at the urging dhe Department of Laboas _amicus

curiae SeeRiveraMeléndez 2013 WL 5290017, at *6 The First Circuit held thatthe

appropriate inquiry in determining the proper reemployment position for a returning
servicemember isot whether an advancement or promotion was automatic, but rather whether it
was reasonably certain that the returning servicemember would have attairmmeghier position
but for his absence due to military serviceld. In doing so, the First Circuishowed
"substantial deference" to the Department of Labor's interpretation of itsregulations,
according to which "general principles regarding the application of the &scptsition . . .

require that a service member receive a missed promotion rgemployment if there is a

reasonable certainty that the promotion would have been grantédciting Auer v. Robbins

519 U.S. 452, 461 (1997 )see als®0 C.F.R. § 1002.19C'The escalator principle requires that

the employee be reemployed in asfplion that reflects with reasonable certainty the pay,
benefits, seniority, and other job perquisites, that he or she would have attained if not for the
period of service). Thus, the fact thabM exercised discretion in its termination and transfer

decisions does not end the inquiry; the Court rdestérmine whether there isganuine factual
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dispute regarding wheth&M would have terminated Vahdyut for his military leave. It is to

this task he Court now turns. In doing so, the Court notes that the discretionary nature of the
decisionactually weighsgainstsummary judgmentecause itnakes it more difficult to resolve

the factual dispute at the heart of this case.

When the Wilmington plantlosed, GM terminated ost, but not all of the salaried
employeesvho worked there SeeDef.'s Answer { 32 ("[N]ot all employees who were working
at the Wilmington, Delaware plamtere terminated."). Some receivedrnsfers to other GM
facilities. Others, including Vahey, did not. Unfortunately f8M, based on this lean summary
judgment recordt is impossible for the Court ieterminevhether Vahey would have been laid
off had he not taken a foyear military leave of absencé\ reasonable jurgould come upvith
more than one explanation for why GM selected Vahey for termination, rather taasfart

As an initial matter, the Court notes that the pagpendmuch of their briefinglebating
whetherother GM employees who were transferigaher than terminated) arsufficiently
comparable to VaheySee generallyiSJ at 1213; Pl.'sSOF {1 5%6; Def.'s Reply in Supp. of
MSJ [Docket Entry 26fat 7-8. The goal of this effort wasaudable:if GM treated Vahey
differently thanhis similarly-situated colleagueghis could be circumstantial evidence of a

USERRA violation. See, e.,glex. Dep't of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 25®

(1981) (discussing potential probative value in Title VII cases of evidence itthkrly situated
employees were not treated equallyBut in this casethe Court cannot conclude (at least on
summary judgmenthat any of thggroposeccomparators arsimilarly-situated to Vaheyin all

material respects Coleman v. Donahoe, 667 F.3d 835, 846 (7th Cir. 2GE® alsWilliams v.

Chertoff 495 F. Supp. 2d. 17, 33 (D.D.C. 2007) ("In this Circuit, employees are similarly

situated if all relevant aspects of their employment situations . . . are nearlyat®nficternal
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guotation marks omitted)The employees in questidravewidely varying job descriptions and
employment historiesSee generallfx. D to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJANd evenf there wereone or
more similarly-situated comparatsrit is not clearhow usefulsuch evidencevould beto the
factfinder, due to thenherent discretionn GM's termination and transfelecisions As one
exampleof the complexities of such an analysispropercomparisorof this sortmight have to
take into account the fact that Vahey's supervisors madiqusly designatedhim a "high
potential" employeeseeVahey Decl. | 6.But the record is silent on whether any of Vahey's
colleagues had achieved that distinctidgimilarly, Vahey's wmtus asa "resident” employee-
rather than one fixed to thWilmington headcourt-could be a confounding variabl&eeEx. B

to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at DO0306.

Becausehis casecannot baesolvedbased on an analysi$ comparable covorkers—at
least, notat the summary judgmenstage—the Courtmust turnto the parties’ competing
narrative explanationsas to why GMselectedVahey for termination, rather than a transfer.
Vahey suggests th&M simgdy found himto bea more convenierntandidate for termination
due to his fowyear military absence.SeePl.'s Opp'n at 23. GM offers an alternative
explanation, claiming that "Michael Vahey was not offered a transfer to arfiatiigéy when the
Wilmington plant ceased production operations because there were no avail#laegpbased
on his job classificatio, skills, and service date." First Haladik Aff.7; see alsoid. T 6
("Employment decisions, including terminations and transfer offers, involvingriesl
employees affected by the cessation of production operations at the Wilmington pabbsed
on a combination of factors, including job classification, skills, and service date.")

As support forits theory, GM repeatedly references the "financial challenges" it was

facing in the summer of 2009, including the fact that "[jJust weeks before plaingifurn,[GM]
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had filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy.” MSJ at 1. To be sure, such hardship lends someecrede
to GM's claim that Vahewould have been laid off evah he hadnever left to serve in the

military. SeeDuarte v. Agilent Techs., Inc366 F. Supp. 2d 1039, 1047 (D. Colo. 2005)

(finding it relevant to plaintiff's unlawful termination claim under USERRA tlededant was
suffering "serious financial hardship™). But in light of the undisputed fact that sovahefy's
former coworkers at tb Wilmington plant wer@ot terminated, and instead were transferred to
other facilites, the repeated referencesthe financial hardships facing GM simply beg the
guestion: Did GM select Vahey for termination for purhancialreasons? ©did his mlitary
absencaffect their decisiormaking?

On this record, a reasonable jury could firmhey's version of events more credible than
GM's. The only evidence in the summary judgment record that could possibly slgheanl
GM's internal decisioimaking process with respect to Vahey suggests there was not much
deliberationat all regarding Vahey's "job classification, skills, and service date" before GM
decided to terminate himlust twelve days after Vahegnfirmedto his superiors at Ghhathe
intendedto return tohis civilian career there waslready email traffic suggesting Vahey would
be laid off. SeeEx. B to PlL's Opp'n to MSJ at DO0300 (May 5, 2009 email from FeHows
Bechard to Dobos saying "we would need to refwiathey] to work with an mcrease and then
GMSP him") What is more, Vahey's "job classification, skills, and service date" are never
discussedn the email exchanges amongst GM human resources employees that appear in the
record, with the exception of two vague references to Vahey's status as a "Qualityt residen
employee.® |d. at D00306. Standing alone, these "[c]onclusory statethesggrdng GM's
consideration of Vahey's qualifications "are insufficient to support summary judgniantos

v. DEA, 357 F. Supp. 2d 33, 37 (D.D.C. 200#erhaps these factors were considered neutrally

® Vahey's full title was "Resident Quality Launch Engineer.” Compl. { 15
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and at length, but because there is no evidence in the summary judgment record to supgort such
conclusion, drawing such an inference in favor of -GMe moving party-would be
inappropriate at this stage.

In contrast to the minimal evidence in the record that Vahey's qualifisaiad job skills
were ever seriously considered by GM's human resources staff, internal emails &eewiiple
references to Vahey's military leave of absence. E€hidence tends to undermine GM's
narrative, anda reasonable jury might rely on it to conclutatif it were not for his military
absence, GM would not have terminated Vah@ye clearest example comes from a May 4,
2009 email fromHuman Resources Manager Theresa FelBeshardto her colleagudaul
Dobos, asking about Vahey's return from military leave. She asked: "Do you know the date of
Mike Vahay's [sic] return from leave? It's a critical piece of information as we pian for the
GMSP." Ex. B to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at D00301. GM never acknowledges the potential
significance of this email in its briefing, nooes it answer the question of why the date of
Vahey's return from his military absence was relevant to their plamstiuct layoffs—let alone
why it was a "critical piece of information." The guiding premise of USERR#as military
service should nalisadvantage a returning servicemember in his civilian ca®es38 US.C.
§ 4301(af1) (stating that one of the purposes of USERRA is "to encourage noncareer service in
the uniformed services by eliminating or minimizing the disadvantages tcanigdreers and
employment which can result from such serviceAlthough this evidence is ambiguous, a
reasonable jury might find that calling the timing of Vahey's return from militaryice
“critical" to upcoming layoff decisions suggests that Vahey dvsadvantaged as a result of his

service, and not simply another casualty of the financial troubles facing GM in 2009.
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There are other examples in the recofr@M's human resources staff discussing Vahey's
military servicein the context oupcominglayoffs. See, e.g., Ex. B to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at
D00315 ("He seems to know the federal law well that governs military leaves from a
company.");_id.at D00314 ("Mike [Vahey] will probably ask, was his pay adjusted to any
scheduled increase from the tithe went on military leave to his GMSP.fQ. at DO0309 ("It
now looks like that Mike will be officially released from active duty July 20, 2009 natdHeer
date he thought in June. | am going to fax a copy of his paperwork to you. It looks like
Wilmington will have a small GMSP 8/1/09. Let me know if he will be included in that one
pending what legal and policy tell you.iy. at DO0306 ("He has been on military leave since
6/15/05. He said he is getting out of the Military this July. He showeaple Soft as being on
Military from Department #£1141QM518. He was never on Wilmington headcound.)at
D00302 ('Vaheycalled me today and said he is going to be released from the Army in mid June,
earlier than expected. Is the plan the sameslsM® When | get his exact date | will send it to
you. Have not heard if our plan below was given the OK by legal.{j;Yes the plan would be
the same. I'm going to confirm everything (again) with policy and global comp. Let me know
when you get th exact date.")d. at DO0300 ("[H]is discharge date is July 20, 2009. . . . | have a
son who is a Army Ranger, and a soflaw in the Marines. Both just got back from Iraq a little
while ago which makes Mike's situation hit close to home."). Once again, a reasomgable |
might find these to be harmless, wiellentioned references to an unusual circumstance facing
the human resources staff. On the other hand, a reasonable jury could also find tvas GM
unduly focused on Vahey's foyear military leave of absence, rather than his actual
gualifications for a transfer. In the face of this factual uncertainty, the @dlimot grant

summary judgment in favor of GM.
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In addition, GM's conclusory claim that "there were no available positionsl lmase
[Vahey's] job classification, skills, and service date" is difficult to accept at face, val
particularly becauséhe decision to terminateim was madeno later thanJune 17, 2009, and
possibly as early as May 5, 2689vhich, according to Vahey, wdseforeGM had offered its
other salaried employees an opportunity to transfer, before GM would have known the applicant
pool for the limited transfer opportunities, and thus, before GM would have known which
positions were available. A reasonable jury might chee not to credit GM's conclusory
assertion that no positions were available in light of the timing of Vaheyigsgion.

Another point a reasonable jury might find persuasive is Valsgsmentthat as a
"Resident" Quality Launch Engineer and a Genekdbtors "North America" employeeas
opposed tan employee fixed to the offai Wilmington "headount"—he would havelready
been transferred to another facility to assistne launch of a new produbtt for his military
absence.Vahey Decl.{1 22, 26 see alsd&x. B to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at DOO3(BM human
resources employee confirming that Vahesas$ never on Wilmington headcotint For similar
reasonsa reasonable jury could find thatahey was a particularly suitable candidate for a

transfer upon his returrand that heshouldhave been less likely to suffer the consequences of

" The record is clear that GM had already decidetetoinate Vahey as of June 17,
2009,seeEx. B to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at DO03G@d one email suggests that the decision was
madeasearly asMay 5, 2009 seeid. at DO0300 (May 5, 2009 email from FelloBgchard to
Dobos saying "we would need to return him to work with an increase and then GMSP him").
And at least one salaried employee was first offered an opportunity to apply for @rntransf
"early June"2009. SeeWatt Decl. 2. The parties dispute themainingpoints Vahey argues
that all other alaried employees received a formal opportunity to apply for a transfer; GM denies
it. As discussed in greater detaifra, Section Ill.C., the Court may not resolve this factual
dispute in favor of GM at the summary judgment sta§emilarly, it is al® no help to GM that
the record is not clear regarding when other salaried employees applied for srdrsfemany
applications were submitted, how many positions vemaglable and wherexactly GM would
have known this information.
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the closure of the Wilmington plant.GM offers no response, andimmary judgment is
inappropriate in the face stichunresolvedactual ambiguities.

Even if it were clearthat Vahey was going to be termingte€@dM faces another
problematic factVahey wasone of the first employees out the door at the GM Wilmington
facility. On August 1, 2009, Vahey wésrminatedalong with five of his co-workersSeeEx. D
to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at D0O039Fhirty-four more employees weterminatedon September 1,
2009. Id. at D00400. And the remaining seveifityir salaried employees at the GM
Wilmington plant were either teiimatedor received their transfers on October 1, 2009. at
D0040102. Although the record is not clear on this point, presumably those employees who
were terminated in September and October received an additional twve monthspay before
receivirg the same stmonth severance package GM provided to Vahé&M has offered no
explanation as to why Vahey was included in the smallest, earliest wave of :lagodiher
words, whyhewas treated less favoralilyan over one hndred of his colleagues. To be sure,
most ofthose colleagues would ultimately lose their jobs in the coming mdnthan additional
one or two monthsalary is undoubtedly 'denefit of employmefitprotected by USERRASee
38 U.S.C. § 4303(2)defining "benefit of employm@" broadly, including'wages or salary for
work performed" andseverance pay,see alsad. § 4312(a)(returning veterans are entitled to
all "employment benefits of this chapter'pue toGM's failure to put forth ayp explanation for
this disparatetreatment a reasonable jurgnight concludethat Vaheys military absence made
him amoreconvenientcandidate for early terminationAlthougha jury need not draw such an
inference the Courtmay notresolve this factual ambiguiiy favor of the movingparty at the

summary judgment stage.
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Based on the sparse summary judgment record before the Court, a reasonable jury could
draw any number of conclusions with respect to what Vahey's employment status would have
been had he not taken a fergar militaryleave of absenceHence at the summary judgment
stage,Vahey has made out a prima facie case of a violation of USERRA's reemployment
requirement.

3. Had circumstanceschanged such that reemployment would have been
impossible or unreasonable?

USERRA provides an affirmative defense to a reemployment claim if "the eniployer
circumstances have so changed as to make such reemployment impossible onainlea88
U.S.C. 8§ 4312(d)(1)(A). The employer has the buraén'proving the impossibilityor
unreasonableness” of reemployment. Id. 8 4312(d)(2).

At the outset, the Court notes thtile GM raised this affirmative defense in its answer,
see Def.'s Answer, Affirmative Defense$ 8, its summary judgmenibrief includes only a
conclusory onsentencdootnotedevoted toit, seeMSJ at 8 n.7 In light of GM's failure to

develop theargument, the Court would be justifiedrefusingto address it.See e.qg, Schneider

v. Kissinger, 412 F.3d 190, 2001 (D.C. Cir. 2005)("It is not enough merely to mention a
possible argument in the most skeletal way, leaving the court to do counse&l'y;wautchins

v. District of Columbia 188 F.3d 531, 53%.3 (D.C. Cir. 1999)(en banc)("We need not

consider cursory arguments made only ifoatnote”). However,because amnalysisof the
"changed circumstancés defense overlaps significantly with GM's othdretterdeveloped
arguments, the Court will consider thehanged circumstances"” defense

The case law varies with respectttte showing requiredo carry the employer's burden
to provethat it would be "impossible or unreasonable" to reemploy a returning vetSmane

courts haveasked fora significant showing, requiring "evidence of a fundamental underlying
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shift in the businesmodeland reality of a company's enterprise in order to avail itself of this

defense."Davis v. CrothallServs. Grp., In¢g.No. 0900312 2013 WL 4417669, at *8 (W.D. Pa.

Aug. 6, 2013). Severalcases havexplicitly held that layoffs and hiring freezes do not suffice.

See, e.q.Cooper v.HungryBuzzard Recovery, LLCNo.C11-0280JCC 2011 WL 5299422at

*3 (W.D. Wash Nov. 4, 2011)("In general, a decline in workload or business has not been

considered sufficient to deny reemployment to returning veteramsfjlapv. Grupo Antolin

Ky., Inc., No. 5:05cv-00029R, 2007 WL 855335, at *3 (W.D. Ky. Mar. 14, 2007)T]he

Court holds that, as a matter of law, mere low work load, layoffs, and a hirirm fdeenot
makereemployment impossible or unreasonable enough to invoke the exemption of 38 U.S.C
84312(d)(1)(A).");see alsd®avis 2013WL 4417669, at *8 ("Downsizing just to keep the doors
open and claims of incapability of reemployment due to financial constrmitisut detailing

how the employee would have exactly fit in such downsizing and reduced employment is
insufficient for a changedircumstancelefense.").

Despite this language suggestitttat layoffs are insufficient Department of Labor
regulations explicitly provide thaby invoking the "changed circumstances" deferism
employer may be excused from reemploying the employee where there has beervemngte
reduction in force that would have included that employee." 20 C.F.R. § 10@D.1E8%ord

Milhauser v. Minco Prods., Inc., 855 F. Supp. 2d 885, 903 (D. Minn. 20[&)) reduction in

force thatreasonablywould have included the plaintiffs constitutes a circumstance making

reemployment unreasonable.Dapine v. Town of Wellesley, 167 F. Supp. 2d 132, 138 (D.

Mass. 2001) (38 U.S.C § 4312(d)(1)(A) is a "very limited exception to be applied only where

reinstatement would require creation of a useles@jabhere there has been a reduction in the
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work force that would reasonably have included tYeteran) (emphasis added{internal
guotation marks omitted).

While the Court notes that Department of Labor regulations appear to require of the
defendant lighter showingthan somalistrict court decisionkave required, the Court need not
resolve thisissuehere, becausat the summary judgment stagelM cannot meet its burden
under either formulation of thstandard. Whetherthe layoffs affecting the GM Wilmington
plant "would have included" Vahey is essentially the same inquiry used to determitmerwhe
Vahey's "escalator position" was layoff statudnder either analysis, the Court is required to
imagine a counterfactual scenario in which Vahey didtalot military leave andto determine
whetherGM would havelaid him off anyway Cf. Milhauser 855 F. Supp. 2d at 903 (noting
this redundancy in the statutory scheme, but findimgeatevantwhere "the jury understood that
at some point in the USERR#&nalysisit was to considefthe defendant'seconomic problems
and resulting reductions in f@¢. In light of the same factualisputesdiscussed above with
respect to Vahey's escalator positiseesupra Section 111A.2, the Court cannot conclude that a
jury would be unreasonabile finding againstGM on its "dhanged circumstances” defense.

* * *

Having considered the facts in the light most favorabl&abey the Court finds that
there is a genuine issue of material fact with respect to wh&hkkwiolated Vahey's rights
under USERRA's reemployment provision, 38 U.S.C. § 4312fajury may resolve [the issue]
in favor of the [defendant], but without improperly resolving disputed issues of facC filmg]

cannot." _Greene v. Dalton, 164 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 198#nce the Court will deny

GM's motion for summary judgment on Count 1.
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B. Count 2: Unlawful Discharge— 38 U.S.C. § 4316(c)

Vahey's second claim alleges unlawful dischargé&er they are reemployed, returning
servicemembersvho spent more than 180 days in the military may not be fiezdept for
causeé within "one year after the date of such reemploymieB8 U.S.C. § 4316(c)The buden
is on the employer to prove aduse" defense20 C.F.R. § 1002.248There is no dispute that
even if Vaheywasproperly reemployedsM terminatechis employmentwithin one year of his
return from military servicé Thus,to award summary judgmettt GM on this claim, the Court
must conclude that there is no genuine issumaterial faciasto whether there was "cause" to
fire Vahey For many of the same reasaiscussed aboveegardingVahey's reemployment
claim, the Court concludes that a reasonable jury could rule in éheither party on this claim.
Therefore, summary judgment is inappropriate.

"Cause' as used in 8 4316(c) is not defined by USERRA." Ferguson v. Walker, 397 F.

Supp. 2d 964, 972C(D. lll. 2005). Department of Labor regulations offer some additional
clarity: "The employee may be discharged for cause based either on conduct, or, in some
circumstances, because of the application of ogitimate nondiscriminatory reasons.” 20
C.F.R. 8 1002.248GM does not arguthat Vahey's conduct justified his termination, only that

"the decision was baseash legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons.” MSJ at®ourts have

8 On GM's theory of the case, Vahey was terminated after two weeks. On Vahey's
theory, he was terminated immediately, since he was "reemployed" into layo$f stde Court
notes that neither the statutory scheme, nor the case law interpreting insantandication of
how to resolvean unlawful discharge claim for a returning servicemember who was never
actuallyreemployedor reemployed properly). On its face, 38 U.S.C. § 4316(c) only applies to
"a person who is reemployed by employer under thichaptef, and the "for cause" protection
only begins to run "after the date of such reemployme®éeé alsd’l.'s Opp'n to MSJ at 21 ("As
to the Defendant's defense that it had good cause for discharging the Plaintiffwgthiist year
of reemployment, it is important to point out that the initial year of protectioa dotbegin
until the employee has been properly reemployed, which the Plaintiff contends did not
occur . .."). But GM does not raise such an argument, and, ineaent the only question
before the Court is whether GM is entitled to summary judgment on Vahey's unlawhargesc
claim. GM is not, so the Court need not address this conurfdrtimernow.
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recognized that economic hardship leadindakwffs can qualifyas such a legitimate reason.

See, e.g.Duarte v. Agilent Techs., Inc., 366 F. Supp. 2d 1039, 1046 (D. Colo. 2005) ("[T]he

discharge of reemployed military personnel due to the employer's adverse economic
circumstaces may be 'for cause."Berguson397 F. Supp. 2d at 972 ("[E]Jconomic conditions
mandating a reduction in the number of employees may constitute cause for discharge under
USERRA"). Butto successfully invoke this defengalM "bears the burden of prang that the
employee's job would have been eliminated or that he or she would have been laid off." 20

C.F.R. 8 1002.248). For that reasgn"it is difficult for employers to achieve summary

judgment on claims under 8§ 4316{(c)Erancis v. Booz, Allen & Hamilton, Inc., 452 F.3d 299,
308 (4th Cir. 2006).

As an initial matter, GM argues that Vahey has conceded that his termination was "for
cause," because his opposition brief "asserts that GM has the burden of proof tshestaisie,
but never establishesM failed to meet any such burdenDef.'sReply in Supp. oMSJat 2.
To be sure, Vahey's opposition brief spends far more time discussing his reenmplayrie
discrimination claims, and the one paragraph discussing the "cause" standard ¢octises
burdenof proof. SeePl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at 21. However, the Court does not agree that Vahey
has conceded the argumerRerhaps realizing that the "cause" analysis overlaps significantly
with other inportant issues in this casdor example determinationof the proper escalator
position andthe validity of GM's changed circumstancelefense-Vahey may havefelt it
unnecessary to repeaverlappingarguments in multiple sections of his brie&knd it is due to
this same substantial overlagghat the Court chose to address GM's changed circumstances
defense, dspite it only appearing in omenclusory footnote Seesupra Section [1I.A.3 While

Vahey's brief might have been organized differently, the Court willtneat this argument as
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conceded,becausehe brief is full of discussion of the facts that are relevant to resotimg
issue

Applying the "cause" standard to Vahey's terminabgrGM, the Court returns to the
guestion why Vahey was terminatéitke most of his colleaguesyather than transferred to
anotherGM facility (like some of his colleagues)/NVas it solely due to a neutral application of
nondiscriminatory criteria? Or did Vahey's lengthy military absence hurt his cRankes
discussed at length with respect touBbl, this is a factual question that the Court is unable to
resolve based on the sparse summary judgment réadode it Particularly in light of the
completelack of evidencen the recorddescribing the procesSM used tomake this decision,
and theemail traffic placing heavy emphasis on the date of Vahey's return fromilheym
absencgwith no discussion of his qualifications for a transferyeasonable fy could rule in
favor of either party on this claim. Therefore, the Court will deny'<Giotion for summary
judgment on Count 2.

C. Count 3: Discrimination on the Basis of Military Service— 38 U.S.C. §
4311(a)

Vaheys third and finaklaim allegeghat GM discriminatedagainst himon the basis of
his military absencen violation of 38 U.S.C.8 4311(a). USERRA prohibits an employer from
denying "any benefit of employment . . . on the basis of" the plaintiff's militascse 38
U.S.C.8 4311(a) This claim rests on a slightly different set of facts than Counts 1 and 2: Vahey
allegesthat GM discriminated against hilsy not offeringhim an opportunity to apply for a
transfer,even though "this opportunity was provided to #BERRA protected employees.”
Compl. § 44. Specifically, Vahey claims that every other employee at the GMngibmiplant
was given a choice before they were laid off: "either apply for a transfer or acgaftssn and

severance." Watt Decl] 2. There is no dispute thaahey was never offed such an
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opportunity. Vahey Decl. f 20-21. However, GM argues thathere is a legitimate,
nondiscriminatoryexplanation for thisnoneof the employees at the GM Wilmington plant were
formally offered the opportunity to apply for a transfer before being laid D#f.'s Reply in
Supp. of MSJ at 5 ("[S]alaried employees affedigthe closure of th&/ilmington plant did not
have an 'opportunity' to apply for transfers as part of the closure process.").

While both parties take it for granted that at lopportunity to apply for a transfer is a
"benefit of employment" protected by USERRAIs appears to be a question of first impression.
The statute defines "benefit of employment” broadly, to include "the terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment, including any advantage, profit, privilege, gain, status, gcopunt
interest (including wages or salary for work performed) that acCragsvell as the opportunity
to select work hours or location of employment.” 38 U.8.@83032). Andanalogousases
from the Title VIl and ADEA contextsalso support the conclusion that the denial of an
opporunity to apply for a promotioror a newposition can be a "benefit of employment"

protect&l underfederal employment discriminatidaws. SeeDouglas v. Donovgn559 F.3d

549, 552(D.C. Cir. 2009)("[I]f an employee is denied the opportunity to compete for a
promotion, she has suffered an adverse employment action; we do not inquire whether she would

have received the position but for the discriminatipriCones v. Shalala, 199 F.3d 512, 521

(D.C. Cir. 2000)accepting Title VII plaintiff's argument thatefusing to allow him to compete

for the promotion was tantamount to refusing to promoté)hiilson v. Commc'ns Workers of

Am., 767 F. Supp. 304, 307 (D.D.C. 199&)Jlowing plaintiff to bring Title VIland ADEA
discrimination clains because shewnas not informed of the new supervisory position, although

younger, white employees with similar skills and experience were afforded theiunyyoto
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apply for the promotidl). Thus, this Court agrees with the tacit assumption of the patires
opportunity to apply for a transfer is a "benefit of employment" protected by RBER
The parties offer competing narratives regarding whether and how employee$&M the
Wilmington plant were able to apply for transfers to another GM facility as their plesgdclo
down. Vahey explains his version of events as follows:
Unlike the other salaried employees, General Motors never provided me with the
opportunity to request or apply for consideration to other positions at GM that |
was qualified for and to my knowdge | was never considered for any transfer

opportunities. | was told from the beginning, in Ma@p[9],° that | wouldlikely
be severed and no other options were ever presented to me.

Vahey Decl. 121; see alsdCompl. {1 334. Vahey maintains that while lveasnever offered
an opportunity to apply for a transfer, the other salaried employees at the Wilmireytowlig!
receive such an opportunity. This assertion is corroborated bgyJeéfir Watt, another former
GM employee who worked at the Wilmington plant until August 20, 2009. Watt explains:
In early, June 2009, managsic] at the Wilmington plant called me and the other
salaried employees into meetings in which we were offered two options, either
apply for a transfer or accept separation and severance. During my meeting with
a GM manager, Mr. Darren Ford, | was informed that if | elected to apply for
consideration for @&ransfer | would need to fill out an application for review by

HR management. Mr. Ford specifically mentioned that there was an available
Quality Engineer position in Lordstown, Ohio.

Watt Decl. 1 23. Watt claims thatall salaried employe® receivedthe same opportunity to

apply for a transfer thahe did. Id. 1 6 ("While | was not present fasther meetings between
manager and the salaried employees, my understanding based upon conversations with others
and my own meeting is that all salaried employees at the Wilmington plantpvestided the

same options . . ").

® Vahey's declaratioactually says "2005," but this appears to be a typographical.error
See, e.g., Vahey Dep. &1-89 (discussing a "visit to Paul Dobos on the fifth of May, 2000X)
B to Pl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at DO0300 (May 5, 2009 email from Paul Dobos to Theresa Fellows
Bechard discussing same meeting)
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GM offers a simple defende this claim. According to GM, both Vahey and Wate
simply mistaken. GM argues: "Mr. Watt's 'understanding' is incorrect. In datdried
employees affected by the closure of the Wilmington plant did not have an 'opportuapply
for transfers as a part of the closure proCe&gef.'sReply in Supp. of MSJ at 5. As support for
its version of eventsGM offers the affidavit ofleffrey Haladik,a human resourcemmployee
from GM's offices inWarren, Michigan

Transfer offers to salaried employees affected by the cessation of production

operations at the Wilmington plant were made by GM to specific, individual

employeedased on a combination of factors, including current job classification,
skills, and service date. Salaried employees affectedthbycessation of

production operations at the Wilmington plant did not have an opportunity to
apply for transfers as a part of the plant closure process

Second Haladik Affy 5. GM also tries to discredit Watt's testimomgtingthat Vahey's "only
basis for [his] contention is the affidavit of a single-veorker who claims he has an
‘'understanding’ of the experience and treatment of all salaried employedsatgitdn during
the plant's closure . . .Such blanket speculation is not evidendeef.'sReply in Supp. of MSJ
ats

PerhapsGM is correct, and Watt's "understanding” is inaccuratut resolving a
credibility dispute between competirgffiantsis not an appropriate task ftnis Courtwhen
deciding a summary judgment motiorA reasonable jury would be entitled ¢oedit Watt's
testimony, rather than Haladkthe inverse i®bviouslyalso tru¢. Watt is a nn-arty to this
proceeding who worked at the Wilmington plaltring the relevant eventahile Haladik is a
current employee of the defendant who works in Michigan. Indeed,ish@waendication where,
if anywhere, Haladik worked for GM during the closure of the Wilmington plantany
indicationwhere he got his informatierwhich tracks the language of GM's reply brief almost

verbatim. CompareSecond Haladik Aff. § Swith Def.'s Reply in Supp. of MSJ &. Under
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these circumstance§M's frustration that Vahey&rongest piece a@vidence isthe affidavit of
a sngle coworker" rings hollow. While a jury could ultimately decide the issue in fav@N\f

this Courtmay not do s@t the summary judgment stag8eeArrington v. Unitel States473

F.3d 329, 338 (D.C. Cir. 2006).

Concludingthat areasonablgury could find that Vahey was denied the opportunity to
apply for atransferdoes not end the inquiryThere must still b@ genuine issue of material fact
with respect to whethdris "'service in the uniformed services' was a substantial or motivating

factor in the adverse employment actiorR6tts v. Howard Univ. Hosp., 843 F. Supp. 2d 101,

104 (D.D.C. 2012)quoting 38 U.S.C.§ 4311(c)) aff'd, 493 F. App'x 114 (D.C. Cir. 2013
Here, there is

Assuming that a jury believed Vahey's version of events, rather than GM's)fttien
over one hundred salaried employees at the GM Wilmington Mahgy waghe onlyonewho
was not offered a formal opportunity to apply for a transfer to another GM fdutioye being
terminated SeeVahey Decl. § 20Watt Decl. 1 6. This is compelling circumstantial
evidence that Vahey's military absence was a motivating fac@®Mis denial of an opportunity

to apply for a transfer.SeeSheehan v. Dep't of Navy, 240 F.3d 1009, 1014 (Fed. Cir. 2001)

("Circumstantial evidence will often be a factor [W\SERRA] cases, for discrimination is
seldom open or notoriou}.

Vahey also pmts to direct evidenceAs discussed at length above, email traffic relating
to Vahey's return to GM is full of references to his military absanckidingcalling his return
date a “critical piece of information" in planning for upcoming layoffS8ee supra,Section
llILA.2. By contrast, there is no discussion of transfer opportunities, an application process

(formal or informal) or possible openings that Vahey might be suited for at other GM facilities.
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Again, a jury could look at this record and reasonably conclude that Vahey's military absence

was at least partially responsible for any adverse treatment that he su8egéttickson v. U.S.

Postal Sery.571 F.3d 1364, 1369Fed. Cir. 2009 (under USERRA, discrimination in
employment occurs winea person's military esvice isa motivating factor" in an adverse
employment action, and it is not requirgfidt military service be thgole motivating factof)
(emphases addedThus, Vahey has made out a prima facie case of discrimination.

GM can sill "avoid liability by demonstrating that it would have taken the same action
anyway for a valid reason, without regard e temployee's military service.Potts 843 F.
Supp. 2dat 104 Once again, this analysis relies on the same facts analyzedvalbovespect
to Vahey's prima facie casé discrimination and the Court finds th#tere isa genuine dispute
of material fact. Because aeasonablgury could find for either party on this record, the Court
will deny GM's motion for summary judgment on Count 3.

One additional item remainsAlthough the Court has analyzed Vahey'scdisiination
claim as if he werehallenging onlyGM's failure to give him an opportunity to apply for a
transfer, at time¥aheyappears to makieroader claims: that GM'sifure to properly reemploy
him and GM's decision to terminate him are independent examples of distiominaviolation
of Section 4311.See generallPl.'s Opp'n to MSJ at 230. To the extent Vahegdvanceshese
arguments, they are duplicative of his reemployment and unlawful discharge clai@isl ditl
not properly reemploy Vahey, then GM will be liable under USERRA's reemploynwinisipn,
see38 U.S.C. § 4312(a), and if GM fired Vahey because of his military absence, GM will be
liable under USRRA's unlawful discharge provision, for a lack of proper "cause" for
termination,seeid. § 4316(c). Neither of those provisions requires a showing that the plaintiff's

military service was a motivating factor in the employer's decisi@ee, e.g.Coffman v.
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Chugach Support Servs., Inc., 411 F.3d 1231, 1235 (11th Cir. 2005) ("Unlike section 4311,

[section 4312] does not require an employee to show any discriminatory animusggné&uy.

Union Pac. Corp.No. C 075160 JF (HRL), 2009 WL 1082356, at *10 n.14 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 22,

2009) (drawing same conclusion with respect to anothesscion of 38 U.S.C. § 4316). Thus,
to the extent Vahey is pressing théseaderclaimsas part of his discrimination clajrthey will
not have any bearing on hidtimate recovery (if any). See38 U.S.C.8 4323(d) @eneric
remedies provisiothat allows recovery of damagks violations of "this chapter”)But in any
event, for the reasons discussed above with respect to Valwlisr, betterdeveloped
argumentssummary judgment in favor of GM is not warrantedtbis record, for any ohis
claims.

CONCLUSION

The Court finds thaton the record before it, a reasonable jury could reseadh of
Vahey'sthree claims in favor of either party. Therefore, the Caulttdeny GM's motion for

summary judgment in its entirety. A separate order accompanies this mdomarapinion.

/sl
JOHN D. BATES
United States District Judge

Dated: OctobeR3, 2013
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